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Chartered Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Members of Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

Report on the Audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Duet India Hotels (Bangalore)
Private Limited, which comprise the Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2024, the Statement of
Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Statement of Changes in Equity
and the Statement of Cash Flows forthe year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory information (herein
after referred to as ” financial statements”).

In our opinicn and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the aforesaid financial statements give the information required hy the Companies Act, 2013, as
amended (“theAct”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at
31st March, 2024, its loss (including Other comprehensive income), changes in equity and its
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing [SAs) specified under

Section 143(10) of the Act, Gur responsibilitics under those Standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements scction of our report. We
are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code of Ethics. We belicve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for cur opinion on the financial statements.

Information Other than the financial statcments and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Board report, but does not include the
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board Report is expected Lo be made
available 1o us after the date of this Auditors’ Report, Our opinion on the financial statements
does not coverthe other information and we do not cxpress any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materiaily misstated.

When we read Board Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
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Responsibility of Management for the financial statements

The Company’s Management and Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in-
Section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation of these financial statements that give

a true and fair view of the financial position/state of affairs, financial performance, total

comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with

the accounting principles generally accepted in India,including the Indian Accounting Standards

(Ind As) specified under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of
adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of
the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities;

selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates

that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate

internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and

completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the

financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s
ahility Lo continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and usingthe going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or tocease operations, or has no realistic alternative butto do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are Lo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guaranteethat an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users Laken on thebasis of these financial statcments,

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professionalskepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audil evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk ofnot detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the averride of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. However, under section 143(3)(i) of
the Companies Act, 2013, we are not responsible for expressing our opinion on whether
the Company has adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating
effectiveness of such controls.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

« Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the
Company to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s repurt to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Cur




conclusions are based on the audit evidenceobtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and te communicate with them all
relationships and othermatters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

Materialily is the magnitude of misstatements in the financial statements that, individually orin
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of
the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and gualitative
factors in (i)planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the resuits of our work; and
(i) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the financial statements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the
Central Government of India in terms of sub-section [11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give
in the “AnnexureA” a stalement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order,

to the extent applicable.
2. Asrequired by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b) [n our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Company
so far as it appears from our examination of those books, except for the matters stated in
paragraph 2($){vi) below on reporting under Rule 11{g) of the Companies [Audit and
Auditors) Rules, 2014 {as amended) ("the Rules”].

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive
income}, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by
this Report are in agreement with the books of account.

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Indian Accounting
Standards specified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with Rule 7 of the

Companies{Accounts} Rules, 2014.

e} On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31st March,
2024 takenon record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on
31st March, 2024 frombeing appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2] of the Act.




V.

With respect to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith,
reference is made to our remarks in paragraph 2(%)(vi} below on reporting under Rule
11{g) of the Rules,

Obtain an understanding of internal financial contro) relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i} of the
Acl, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has
adequate internal financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such

controls.

The Company has not paid managerial remuneration to its directors during the year and
accordingly provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V of the Act are not applicable to

the Company for the year ended March 31, 2024.

With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of
our informationand according to the explanations given to us:

The Company does not have any pending litigations on its financia! position- Refer Note

No. 24 to the financial statements;

The Company has made provision, as required under the applicable law or Indian

accounting standards, for material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term contracts

including derivative contracts.

There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the [nvestor Education

and Protection Fund by the Company.

(a) The management has represented that, no funds have been advanced or loaned or
invested {either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or
kind of funds) by the company te or in any other person(s) or entity{ies), including
foreign entities {“[ntermediaries™), with the understanding, whether recorded in
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether, directly or indirectly lend
or invesl in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on
behalf of the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security
or Lhe like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries,

(b) The management has represented that, no funds have been received by the company
from any person(s) or entity(ies), including forcign entities {(“Funding Parties”), with
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the company
shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or entities
identified in any manner whatsocver by or on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the
Uitimate Beneficiaries,

(¢) Based on such audit procedures that we have considered reasonable and
appropriate in the circumstances; nothing has come to our notice that has caused us
to believe that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material
mis-statement.

The company has not paid any dividend during the year. Hence, provisions of Section
123 of the Act are not applicable.




vi. Based on our examination, which included test checks, the Company has used
accounting software for maintaining its books of account which have a feature of
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that have operated throughout the financial
year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software except that the feature of
recarding audit trail (edit lug) facility was not enabled in the accounting software for
the period from 1st April 2023 to 6th February 2024. Further, during the periods where
audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated throughout the year for the
respective accounting software, we did not come across any instance of the audit trail
feature being tampered.

For LODIIA & CO LLP
Chartercd Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 301051E/E300284

{Gaurav Lodha}

Partner

Membership No. 507462

Place: New Delhi

uDIN: Juso FU6RR T Y O% 3699

Date:24-05-2024




ANNEXURE “A” REFERRED TO IN PARAGRAPH 1 UNDER THE HEADING “REPORT ON
OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS” OF OUR REPORT OF EVEN DATE ON
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF DUET INDIA HOTELS (BANGALORE) PRIVATE LIMITED
FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2024.

(a){A) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including

quantitativedetails and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment and relevant details
of right of use assets. The Company does not have Property, Plant & Egquipment
(including Right of use assets) at the end of the year.

(B) The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible
assets. The Company does not have intangible assets at the end of the year.

(b} The Property, Plant & Equipment (including Right of use assets) have been physically

(a)

(b)

verified by the management according to the programme of periodical physical
verification in phased manner which in our opinion is reasonable having regard to the
size of the company and the nature of its property, plant and equipment, Based on
information and records provided, no material discrepancies were noticed on such
verification. The Company does not have Property, Plant & Equipment (including Right
of use asscts) at the end of the year.,

According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our
examination of the lease agreements provided to us, we report that properties on lease
where the Company is the lessee and the lease agreements were duly executed in favour
of lessee, The Company does not have lcased property at the end of the year.

The Company has not revalued any of its property, plant and cquipment (including
Right of Use assets) and intangible assets during the year.

According to the information and explanations given to us and records provided, no
proceedings have been initiated during the year or are pending against the Company as
at March 31, 2024 for holding any benami property under the Prohibition of Benami
Property Transactions Act, 1988 (as amended in 2016} and rules made thereunder.

As per the physical verification program, the inventories were physically verified during
the year by the Management at reasonable intervals. In our opinion and according to the
information and explanations given to us, the coverage and procedure of such
verification by the Management is appropriate having regard to the size of the Company
and the nature of its operations. No discrepancies of 10% or more in the aggregate for
each class of inventories were noticed on such physical verification of inventories when
compared with books of account

According to the information and explanations given to us, at any point of time of the
year, the Company has not been sanctioned any working capital facility from banks or
financial institutions and hence reporting under clause 3(i)(b} of the Order is not
applicable.




(a)

(b)

()

(d)

As per the records and the information The Company has not made investment in,
provided guarantee or security or granted loans, secured or unsecured, to Companies
(read with footnote to note no. 10 (b) of the financial statements and our comment to
para {iii}(d) below) and any other parties and has not provided any advance in the
nature of loans and guarantee to companies, firms, limited liability partnership and any
other parties during the year.

The Company has not provided any loans or advances in the nature of loans, secured or
unsecured to companies, firms, limited liability partnership or any other parties and
hence reporting under clause 3(iii) {a) and (b) of the order are not applicable.

As stated in note no. 10 {b) of the financial statements, Interest on the unsecured loans/
inter corporate deposits given by the company has been waived off during the year. The
Company being an infrastructure facility providing company under section 186(11) of
the Act, has been exempted from charging interest under section 186(7) of the Act on
loans/ inter corporate deposits given by the Company. Further, according to the
information and cxplanations given to us, repayment schedule of unsecured loans/inter
corporate deposits as mentioned in footnote to note no. 10 (b) of the financial
statements has not been stipulated and is repayable as per the mulual consent between
both the parties. Hence, we are unable to make a specific comment on the regularity of
repayment of principal and payment of interest in respect of such loan.

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on the audit
procedures performed, in respect of loans / ICDs granted by the Company, there is no
overdue amount remaining outstanding in respect of loan amount and interest as at the
balance sheet date {read with our comments to para (iii) (d) below}.

The Company had granted loans/ ICDs to group companies which had fallen due during
the year and the Company had renewed the said loans/ICDs during the year. The
aggregate amount of such dues renewed {refer footnotes to note no. 10 (b) of the
financial statements} and the percentage of the aggregate to the total loans or advances
in the nature of loans/1CDs granted during the year are as follows:

Name of Parties Aggregate armount of Percentagé of the

overducs of existing loans | aggregate to the total
renewed or extended or iloans or advances in
settled by fresh loansfthe_, nature of loans
(including Interest) ' granted  during the

year
(Amount in Rs. million)

Duet India Hotels [Puné} Private Limited : 222,40 -

Duet India Hotels {Ahmedabad) Private 9.50 -
Limited

Duet India Hotels {Chennai) Private Limited 1580 -

Duet India Hotels {Hyderabad) Private ' 10.00 -
Limited

Duet India Hotels (Jaipur) Private Limited 12.81

(e) The Company has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans, either
repayable on demand or without specifying any terms or period of repayment to
[companies, firms, Limited Liability Partnerships or any other parties]. Accordingly, the
reguirement to report on clause 3(iii)(f) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.




vi.

According to the information, information, explanations and representations provided
by the management, and based upon the audit procedures performed, we are of the
opinion that in respect of loans given, the Company has complied with the provisions of
section 186 of the Companies Act, 2013. As per the explanations and representations
provided by the management and based upon audit procedures performed, the
Company has not given any guarantee, security and has not made any investment
during the year under review under the provisions of section 185 and 186 of the
Companies Act, 2013,

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the
company has not accepted any deposit or amounts which are deemed to be deposits
within the provisions of the section 73 to 76 of the Act or any other relevant provisions
of the Act and the rules framed thereunder (to the extent applicable). Hence, reporting
under clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. We have been informed
that no order has been passed by the Company Law Board or National Company Law
Tribunal or Reserve Bank of India or any Court or other Tribunal in this regard.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the
company is notrequired to maintain cost records pursuant to section 148(1) of the

Companies Act, 2013,

vii. (a) According to the records of the Company, the Company is generally regular in depositing

(h)

viii.

ix. (a}

(c)

undisputed statutory dues including income tax, goods and services tax, provident fund,
employees' state insurance, sales tax, service tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, value
added tax, cessand other material statutory dues with the appropriate authorities to the
extent applicable and there are no statutory dues payable for a period of more than 6
months from the date they became payable as at 31st March, 2024,

According to the records and information & explanations given to us, there are no
undisputed dues which have remained unpaid as on March 31, 2024 on account of
statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (aj above.

There were no transactions relating to previously unrecorded income that were
surrendered ordisclosed as income in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act,

1961 (43 of 1961) duringthe year.

According to information and explanation given to us, the Company has not defaulted in
repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment of interest thereon to any
lender (read with note no. 10 {c) of the Financial Statcments}.

The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution
grgovernment or any government authority.

The Company has not taken any term loan during the year and there are na outstanding
term loans at the beginning of the year and hence, reporting under clause 3 (ix)(c) of the

Order is not applicable.

On an overall examination of the financial statements of the Company, no funds raised
on short-term basis have been used for long term purposes of the Company.




x.

Xi.

Xii.

xiii.

xiv.

XV,

Xvi.

(e}

(a)

(b)

(a)

(b)

{c)

The Company did not have any subsidiary or associate or joint venture during the year
and hence, reporting under clause 3(ix) (e} and {f} of the Order is not applicable,

The Company has not raised moneys by way of initial public offer or further public offer
(including debt instruments) during the year and hence reporting under clause (x)(a) of
the Order is not applicable.

During the year the Company has not made any preferential allotment or private
placement of shares or convertible debentures (fully or partly or optionally) and hence
reporting under clause(x)(b) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

Based on the audit procedures performed and on the basis of information and
explanations provided by the management, no fraud by the Company and no fraud on
the Company has been noticed or reported during the year,

To the best of cur knowledge, no report under sub-section (12) of section 143 of the
CompaniesAct has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 with the Central Gevernment, during the year and
upto the date of this report.

As represented to us by the Management, whistle blower policy is not applicable to the
Company.

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the
Company is nota nidhi company and hence reporting under clause 3{xii) of the Order is
not applicable.

The requirements as stipulated by the provisions of section 177 of the Act are not
applicable to the Company. Moreover, as per the information and explanations and
records madec available by the management of the Company and audit procedures
performed, for transactions with the related parties during the year, the company has
complied with the provisions of Section 188 of the Act, where applicable. As explained
and as per records, details of related party transactions have been disclosed in the
financial statements as per the applicable Indian Accounting Standards.

On the basis of records made available to us and according to information and
explanations givento us, the company is not required to have an internalaudit system as
per provisions af the Companies Act, 2013. Hence reporting under clause 3(xiv) of the
order is not applicable.

On the basis of records made available to us and according to information and
explanations givento us, the Company has not entered into non-cash transactions with
the directors or persons connected with its directors and hence provisions of section
192 of the Companies Act, 2013 arenot applicable to the Company.

The Company is not required to be registered under section 45-1A of the Reserve Bank
of India Act 1934 and hence reporting under clause {xvi)(a), (b} and (c) of the Order is
not applicable, As per the information and representation provided by the management,
there are no CICs within the group (as defined in Core Investment Companies (Reserve

Bank) Directions, 2016).




xvil,

xviii,

Xix.

XX,

XX

The Company has not incurred cash losses during the financial year and company has
incurred cash losses of Rs. 20.96 million during the immediately preceding financial

year.

There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors of the Company during the year.

On the basis of the financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realization of financial
assets and payment of financial liabilities (as per the payment schedule/ re-scheduled),
other information accompanying the financial statements and our knowledge of the
Board of Directorsand Management plans and based on our examination of the evidence
supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to our attention, which causes us to
believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report indicating
that Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet
as and when they fall due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date. We,
however, state that this is not an assuranceas to the future viability of the Company
and/ or certificate with respect to meeting financial obligations by the Company as
and when they fall due. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to
the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance thatall
liabililies falling duc within a period of cne year from the balance sheet date, will get
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

The Company was not having net worth of rupees five hundred crore or more, or
turnover of rupees one thousand crore or more or a net profit of rupces five crore or
more during the immediately preceding financial year and hence, provisions of Section
135 of the Act are nol applicable to the Company during the year. Accordingly,
reporting under clause 3(xx)(a) & (b) ofthe Order is not applicable for the year.

The reporting under clause 3{xxi) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. Hence,
no comments in respect of the said clause has been included in this report.

For LODHA & CO LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm Registration No.: 301051E/E300284

(fglllrav l.odha

(Partner)

Membership No. 507462
Place: New Delhi

Date: 24-05-2024




Annexure-B to the Auditor's report

Report on the Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of
Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("the Act”)

We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of Duet India Hotels (Bangalore)
Private Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2024 in conjunction with our audit of the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. :

Management'’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘'ICAI'}. These responsibilities
include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to
Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial
information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls over financial
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of
Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing,
issued by ICAl and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicabie to an audit of Internal Financial Contrels
and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and the Guidance Note
require thal we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Qur audit of internal
financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls
over (inancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reperting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary ta permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance
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regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and net be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over
financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial
reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies ar procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

[n our opinion, the Company has maintained, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls
system over financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating
effectively as at March 31, 2024, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by
the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of

India.

For LORHA & CO LLP
Chartered Accountants
1CAl Firm's Registration No. 301051E/E300284

{Gaurav Lodha)

Partner

Membership No. 507462
Place: New Delhi Niliag A cTi
Date: 24-05-2024 Lo




Duet [ndia Hole_ls {Bangalore] Private Limired

CIN: USSI0IHRI008PTC046802

Balance Sheetas at 31 March 26024

(AN cmanenis e o0 Iadian Rupoes mddinms, onldevs eiher e staihd)

Ag ar As al
Nnie 31 March 2024 31 Mareh 2023
ARSETS
Nun-current assets
Property, plant and eqgaiprnem 3 - oy
Razght Lo use assel 3 - LM
Ingangile assets 1 - 0.25
lovems tas assels fnet) H 1 54 L3
Tatal won-current assets ! 1.64 316
Current assets
Inventories 3 - 185
Fizancial assets
Trade recervables Tial - 30.82
Cash and cash ¢cuivalears ikt .94 BRT
Chle lancial assets et JIHER 2244
Oither cureen? assels - 178
Tatal cerrent assels 320,76 64,79
TOTAL ASSETS o 531,40 67.95
FQUITY AND LIARILITIES
Equity
Eiquily shurs caprial 9 2387 1367
iz squily HA 3o B 4.72
Tatal equiry 50,53 18,39
Liabslities
Non-current liabilitics
Financtal liabilidcs
Lease ligbilives M - 096
Provisicns 12 - 105
Tatal ran-curren liahilities - 3ol
Current fiabilities
Finarwial habihties
lease liabitines 13141 - i1
Trade pavables
= total outstarding dugs o micro enterprises - 1BT
and small! enterpriscs
- tutal cutstanding dues of creditors ather chan 13481 87 1127
meeri enierpreses and small enterprises
Other Anancial halaltics 13¢) - 2.5a
Other carrent liabihtcs 14 - 023
Privasiong LS - 014
Taral currenet Eahilitias .%7 Jb.55
Total liahilities 0.87 Jh.36
TOTFAL FOUITY AND [IARITITIES 33140 §7.95

Tlee nortes from Note | e Note 34 (o an integral pant of these Snancizl statemrants,

As per our repont af even dats attached

i-ow Lodha & Co LLP Fer and on behalt of Board of Directors of
S heiriered docennitani Duer Lndiz2 Hotels { Bangulore) Private Limied
[CAD P Regstration o - 22105, 1 E300284
L Gk S s
I
auray Lodka Simranjeer Singh Tarun Kemar Mishra
Feasipor Tioy ar Liresioe
Membership N 507462 DTN NENRIIIT DI 9053019
Place Wew [helht [laze Curngsam Place Charugium
Date 24 Way 20621 Date. 24 May 2024

Date 2 May 1024




Duet India Hotels (Bangafore) Private Limited

CEN: US5101HR2008P 1 C046502

Statement of Profit and 1.oss fur the year ended 31 March 2024
AR cmaunis ore i indion Rupees smiflons, wafes ovbaraise stoted)

Continuing Operations
Income

Oher ingone

Taotzl income

Expenses
Other expenses
Tatal expenses

MNote

Earnitegs lrom continaing operations before finaner cost, depreciation, amortisation, and tax

Fimance costs
Depreciation: and amotisation ¢xpense

Profoti(loss) frem continuwing operatiens hefore tax

Tax expense
Deflerrad tax
Curtent rax
Tax uxpense for prior year

Loss for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Lass feoen ciscontinued operations before sxcepricnal ifems and 1ax
Exceptional items fom disconninued aperalions - gaind losss

Tax expense vl hsconhnued pperations

Profit/(Loss} for the year from discontinued gperations

Teafin'(Luao) for the yrar

Other comprehensive lass
Srem thar weld ot e reclansified o profie or fass

- e-measurement loss on defined benefit obligations
- [ncame tax relating to iteims menlioned above
Other comnprehensive loss, et of tax

Tatal comprekensive loss for the year

Lass per equity share from continuing operations
Maminal vafue of share [NKO10 [previous vear [NR 1G]
BasiciINED

Diluted ([MR)

Earnings/less) per equity share from discortinved operstions
~Nomminal value of share INR 10 |previous year INR 0]

Basic ([NR)

Diluted [INRE

Earnings/(1.055} per equity share

Nonmional value al share ENR 0 |previous vear LB 0]
Bagic [INR}

Diluted 11K

13
19

[

[IER
LE

21

,.,

The notes Srom Note | to Noie 34 form an intseeal part ofiocse financial statements.

Mg per wur repor of even dare attached

For Lodha & Co LLP
{Chartered econtonis

(CAL Finm Registration ~o. 30103 1L E300284 .

e

Gauray Lodhba
Fartiner
Memhershi No o 507463

Place “ew Deiln
Dare 34 Wy 2004

Far the year ended
31 March 2024

For the year emded
31 March 2023
{Represented)
(refer note 21)

0.64 0.07
0.04 0.07
.58 0.02
.58 0.02
{0.54) 0.05
0.0l 0.38
0.25 0.13
0.26 0.51
(0.5 (0.46)
- (0.0}
14 -
- 194101
141 (9.42;
2.21) 8.96
(12 31) (21.89}
51783 .
5U5.57 (21.89)
3003 {12.93)
- 0.0z
- i
- 0.0
503.36 (12.92)
(0.93) 379
093 379
213.58 (.25}
2 {9.25}
2263 13 46)
21265 i3 46

For and on behalf of Board of Directors off
et [ndia Hotels (Bangainre) Private Limited

G Gl
ﬁ::r njeet;ilh

g

DIN: 3083337

Place: Curugram
Draee. 24 Slay 2024

Tarun Kumar Mishra
Lhirgeior
DIN: 05054219

Place: Gurimram
Date: 24 May 2024




Duet India Hotels {Bangalore) Privace Limited

CIN: USSI0IHR20G8T TCO46802

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2024
{AI] ammoumts ave in Indian Rupees aullions. unfess otherwise stated)

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
A, Cash Mows from operating activities

Laoss for the year from continuing operations {0.80) {0.46)
Profit/{ Lass} for the year from discontinued operations 30357 (21 89y
Adjustments:
Adjustments for:

1.30 1.0

Depreciation and anmtortisation expense
CGawn on modification of right of use assets and lease liability il48) -

Garn on disposac of the CGE on slump sale basis (33625 -
Finance costs 018 6.30
Operating cash Tows before movement in assets and liabilities {51.46} (20,95}
{Increase) f decreass in invenfories 285 (1T
{Increase) in trade receivables 419 113,78
Decrease in other financial gssels 2141 (2207
{[ncrease} in other assels {2163 033
Increase in trade payables 2198 1389
[ngrease S (decrease) in other liabiities [URE] 080
iDecreaset s Increase 1o provisions 023 Q.55
Bayrnent al lease rent - [1.28)
[nercase in other financial hakilines .03 LY
Cash generared from operations (2.10}) {d43. 19}
Ingenme taxes refunded (nel (2.02) D08
Net cash generated by / {used in) uperating activities (A) (4.12) 43.11)
B. Cash flows from investing activities
Purchuse of property, plant and cquipment and uttangible assets ({1.58) (0.56%
Distribution to faliow subsidiaries on hehalf of the parens company recsived back 30 45,57
Net cashg generate by / (used in} investing activities (B) (0,25} 43.01
. Cash Aows from Anancing activities
Capital contnibution on behalf of the parent company repaid {157y -
et cash generatedt by / (used in) linancing activities {C} (1.52) -
Nel {decrease)imerense in cash and cash cquivateats (A-B+() (5.92) 1.9
Cash and ¢ash equivalents at the beginring of the vear 6.87 487
Cash and cash equivaleats at the ¢end of the year 0.95 6.87
As at As at
Notes to statement of cash flows 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
i. Components of cash and cash equivalents
Cush on hand - 0.04
Balances with hanks
- LR LTSNt ACCOUNES N .83
0.95 6.87

it. The Cash Flows from operating activities section in Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared in accardance with the tndiceet Method as set out in the [nd
AS 7 "Staternent of Cash Flows™

The notes from Nole 1o Note 34 form an imtegral part of these financial statements.

A pee our report of even date attached

For Ladha & Co 1P For ard or behalf of Board of [hrectors of
Chartered Accournanis Duet [ndia Hotels | Bangaiore) ¥rivate Liomited

LAl Firm Regustration No o 30105 1 E/E30028<

o [ & P
£l g
Gauray Lodhi Simranjeet Ningh Tarun Kumar Mishra
Partier Divecior firector
Membership No L 307462 [IN: GROB3337 DN 09054019
Place; New Defki Place: Gurrigram Place. Gurugram

Date 24 May 202+ Date' 24 May 2024 Date 24 May 2024




Duel [ndis Huels (Bangiore) Privire Limited

Ol USSIIRINEPTCOAGEIT

Sranement of Changes in Equity for the voar endied JT Mareh 24
oAt earmesectain eor ver fglin Nuvgces mithons anless ke sy i

d.  Egguity share capital

Particobars e Numer of shares, A My

As a0 April 2022 ’ A 2367068 e
Changes i cquiny share capelal duroy the yenr - LA
At 31 March 2023 26T N 13.67
A B Al 2z 1367, (05 AT
Cliursges ity share vzpiel Sucng e yeer - -
Ax at 31 March 2024 23670068 2347

b, Deher equiny (refer nate Ly
Parliculars itall cumirihatinn oo Resenves amil surplos
belvatlF of the parent
cnmpany
Secarilics promiom Distribntion w4 Hrtzined carmings
lidlerw subsithiaries Total
an behialt of e Remessurementd ol
PRITEAL comigan defnedd benelit jHans

Balince a2 4t 1 Agril 022 1590 Py [Ee T - T Rae
Lnss far the yoar - . N - {1200
Mo cnen duiing the - - - Fh I - 36
Uhltes coannghinbng uss jnvl ol s - 0l

Tatal commpretensin e loss - - 36 Ak 110

Tranalesrl w ncaired @engs - - ity -
Ralance as a1 31 WMarch 3125 15490 24085 12LEL) 1472
Lows fior the vear - - - S35
Tkl compecheaiine gy - - 50350
Moemer duritg 1l car - 0 - | - 11.22)
Ealance as i 31 March 2024 17.3% HURS (375 E1600 4 | - 36 B

The neles from Motz - L SNl 3T an ulegral part o ese linanzial statemenes
A per our eepar ol euen dane snacied

Fige el o el 1 Gl Bgand b Dirocross of
Duct Intlia Howels [Bamgalore) Privae Bimited

M

Far Logha & Cn LLP
Clraarrerecd Acuciatont:
1AL Foma Begiswraton Mg MG EYET00244

peres

Caray Lantha Simranfoct Sinsh Tarun Kumar Mishra
LSeirtrer Hderei e ihrezsiar

Meomberskip Moo SIFT4LE DI OE083537 L. IS4y

Place. Sum Delln Place: Curgram Place: Guragram

Dale 24 Vay i3 Daie: 14 May 1024 Date. 24 May 2024




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: USS5101HR2008PTC(46802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts are in rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

1.1

1.2

Corporaie information

Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited (‘the Company') was incorporated on July 25", 2008 under
the Companies Act, 1956. The Company is primarily engaged in acquisition, development, operation and
management of Hotels in India.

The Shareholders of the Company (“*ACIC Mauritius 1) on March 30, 2023 had entered into a Share
Subscription and Purchase Agreement with SAMHI Hotels Limited (“SAMHI” or “Acquirer”) for stake
sale. The transfer of shareholding has been executed on August 10, 2023.

The Ind AS f(inancial statements are approved for issue by the Board of Directers on 24 May 2024,

Basis of preparation

These Ind AS financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards
(Ind AS) as per the Companies {[ndian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 as amended from time to time
notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, {* Act’} and other relevant provisions of'the Act.

Functional and presentation currency
These Ind AS Financial Statcments arc presented in indian Rupees (Rs.), which is also the Company’s
functional currency. All amounts have been rounded-olT to the nearest millions and upto two decimal places,

unicss otherwise indicated.

Basis of Measurement
These Ind AS Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis excepl certain financial

assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value. Going Concern basis of accounting used by the
management.

Significant aceounting judgments, estimates and assumptions.

The preparation of Ind AS Financial Statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenscs and the accompanying disclosures. Uncertainty about the
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that may require material adjustment to the carrying
value of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

The following are the significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial

statements:




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2608PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

(1)

(il).

(iii).

(iv).

(v).

Provisions and contingencies

The assessments undertaken in recognizing previsions and contingencies have been made in accordance
with Ind AS 37, ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, which involves key
assumptions about the likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of rcsources.

Lecascs

Critical judgements in delermining the lease period:

Ind AS 116 required lessecs to determine the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease adjusted
with an option to extend or terminate the lease, if the use of such option is reasonably certain. The Company
makes an assessment on the expected lease term on a lease-hy-lease basis and there by assesses whether it
is reasonably certain that any options 1o exlend or terminate the contract will be exercised. In evaluating
the lcase term, the Company considers factors such as any significant leasehold improvements undertaken
over the lease term, costs relating to the termination of the lease and the importance of the underlying asset
to the Company’s operations taking into account the location of the underiying asset and the availability of
suitable alternatives. The lease term in the future possible periods is reassessed to ensure that the lease term
reflects the current economic circumstances.

Critical judgements in determining the discount rate:
The discount rate is generally based on the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lease being evaluated

or for the portfolio of leases with similar characteristics.

Useful lives, recoverable amounts and impairment of property, plant and equipment

The estimated useful lives and recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment are based on estimates and
assumptions regarding the expected market outlook, expected future cash flows, obsclescence, demand,
competition, known technological advances. The Company reviews the useful lives and recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment at the end of cach reporting date.

Impairment of investments

Property, plant and equipment and intangible asscts that arc subjcct to depreciation/amortisation are tested
for impairment periodically inciluding when events oceur or changes in circumstances indicate that the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying value. The recoverable amount of
cash generating units is higher of valuc-in-use and fair valuc less cost to seli. The calculation involves use
of significant estimates and assumptions which includes turnover and earnings multiples, growth rates
and net margins used to calculate projected future cash flows, risk-adjusted discount rate, future economic

and market conditions

Employee benefit obligations

Employee benefit obligations (grawity and compensated absences) are determined using actuarial
valuations, which involves determination of the discount rale, fulure salary increases and mortality rates.
Due to the complexities invelved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is
highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

-
e
ML b
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Duet india Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN:

U5310111R2008PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2624
(Al amounts are in rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

(vi).

(vit)

(viii).

(ix).

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The tair values of financial instruments recorded in the Ind AS balance sheet in respect of which quoted
prices in active markets are not available, are measured using valuation techniques. The inputs to these
models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgment is required in establishing fair values. Judgments include considerations of inputs such as liquidity
risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair
value of financial instruments. Also, refer note 27 for further disclosures.

Recognition of deferred tax assets / liabilities
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is regarded as probable that deductible temporary

diffcrences can be realized. The Company estimates deferred tax assets and liabtlities based on current tax
laws and rates and in certain cases, business plans, including management’s expectations regarding the
manner and timing of recovery of the related assets. Changes in these estimates may affect the amount of
deferred tax liabilitics or the valuation of deferred tax asscts and thereby the tax charge in the Statement of
Profit and Loss.

Provision for tax liabilities require judgements on the interpretation of tax legislation, developments in case
laws and the potential outcomes of tax audits and appeals which may be subject to significant uncertainty.
Therefore the actual results may vary from expectations resulting in adjustments to provisions, the valuation
of deferred tax assets, cash tax settlements and therefore the tax charge in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Litigation

From time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings, the ultimate outcome of each being always
subject to many uncertainties inherent in litigation. A provision for litigation is made when it is considered
probable that a payment will be made and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Significant
judgernent is made when evaluating, among other factors, the probability of unfavourable outcome and the
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of potential loss. Litigation provisions arc reviewed at
each accounting period and revisions made for the changes in facts and circumstances.

Business Combinatiens

Agquisition of assets along with related input, outputs and processes which qualify as a business
combination is accounted for using the acquisition method involving fair valuation of consideration
transferred (including contingent consideration) and fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed measured on a provisional basis, if any.

Business combinations of entities under common control are accounted using the “pooling of interests”
method and assets and liabilities are reflected at the predecessor carrying vaiues and the only adjustments
that are made arc to harmonise accounting policics. The figures for the previous periods are restated as if
the business combination had occurred at the beginning of the preceding period irtespective of the actual
date of the combination.




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the yvear ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts arve in rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

(x).

E.

Recognition of Distribution of behalf of Ultimate Holding Company and Equity Component of
Intercompany Borrowings

[ntercorporate loans given to fellow subsidiary companies for which interest have been waived in earlier
years in the light of the cash flow constraints, such loans to be treated as interest free loans and recognised
and measured at fair values determined using present value technique with inputs that include future cash
flows and discount rates that reflect assumptions that market participants would apply in pricing such
loans. The difference between the transaction price and fair value of such loans given to fellow
subsidiaries to be recognised as Distribution on behalf of Ultimate Holding Company with a debit to Other

Equity.

Intercorporate borrowings availed from fellow subsidiary companies for which interest has been waived
in the earlier years by the fellow subsidiary companies in the light of the cash flow constraints, such
borrowings to be treated as interest free borrowings and recognised as Equity Component of Intercompany
Borrowings with a credit to Other Equity.

Current and non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current / non-current
classification. An asset is classified as current when it satisfics any of the following criteria:

- it is expected to be realized in, or is intended for sale or consumption in, the Company’s normal operating
cycle.

- it is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

- it is expected to be realized within 12 months after the reporting date; or

- it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting date.

A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any of the following criteria:
- it is expected to be settled in the Company’s normal operating cycle;
- it is held primartly for the purpose of being traded,;
- it is duc to be setiled within 12 months after the reporting date; or
- the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
aller the epuling date, Terms of o liability gt could, at the oplivn of the counterparty, resull in ity
seftlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classification.

Current assets/liabilities include current portion of non-current financial assets/liabilities respectively. All
other assets/ liabilities are classified as non-current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities {if any) are classified

as non-current assets and liabilities.

Operating cycle

Based on the nature ot the operations and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their
realization in cash or cash equivaients, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as twelve months
for the purposc of current/non-current classification of asseis and liabilities.




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: U55101HR2008PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

F.  Measurement of fair values
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values,

for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value is the price that would be received to scli an asset or paid to transfer a liabiiity in an orderly
transaction between markelt participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

P In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

P [r the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be aceessible by the Company.

The f(air value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.’

A [air value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s abilily to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

‘The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair valuc, maximising the usc of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the usc of unabservable inpuls.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole;

P Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

> Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is dirgctly or indircetly observable

» Level 3 — Valuation technigues for which the lowest level input that is significant to the [air value
measurement is unobservable

'For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the iowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

'For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on
the basis of the natwe, Vhiaractestivs aud visks of the asset or ligbilily aid the level of e fan value
hierarchy as explained above.

The Company measures financial instruments, such as, investments (other than invesiment in
subsidiaries), at fair value at each reporting date. Also, fair value of financial instruments measured at

amortised cost is disclosed in Note 27.




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2008PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(All amounts are in rupees millions, unless otherwise stated)

2.

(1)

Material accounting policies

The Company adopted Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendment to [nd AS 1) from 1 April 2023,
Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the accounting policy themselves, they impacted
the accounting policy information disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosure of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant’ accounting policies. The
amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosurc of accounting policies,
assisting entities to provide useful, entity-specific accounting policy information that users need to
understand other information in the financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment including capital work in progress are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses if any,

Cost comprises the purchase price, import duties and other non-refundable taxes or levies, borrowing
costs if capitalization criteria are met and direclly attribulable cost of bringing the asset to its working
condition for its intended use and estimated costs of dismantiing and removing the item and restoring the
site on which it is located. Any trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving al the purchasc price.
If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, piant and equipment.

Subsequent costs and disposal

Subscquent expenditure related (o an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value
only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Company. All other expenses on existing property, plant and equipment, including day-lo-day repair and
maintenance expenditure, are charged to the profit or loss for the period during which such expenses are
incurred.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of property, plant and equipment are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the profit or
loss when the asset is derecognized.

Depreciation

Depreciation on Property, plant and equipment is caiculated using the straight-line methed (SLM} to
allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives (determined by the
management based on technical estimates). Useful lives of assets as estimated by the management which
is generally in line with Schedule 1I to the Companies Act, 2013. The assets” residuai values and uscful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. [n case of a revision,
the unamortized depreciable amount is charged over the remaining useful life.

Depreciation on addition/ (disposals) is provided on a pro-rata basis i.e. from/ (up to) the date on which
the assel is ready for use/ (disposed off).

AT




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2008PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts are in rupees millions, unless otherwise staled)

)

(3)

[ntangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. ollowing initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Internally gencrated intangiblc assets, excluding capitalized development costs,
are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the statement of profit and loss in the period / year in

which the expenditure is incurred.

Amortisation of Intangible assets
Intangible assets of the Company represents computer software. Computer software are amortized using

the straight line method over the estimated useful fife (at present three to ten years) or the tenure of the
respective software license, whichever is fower. The amortization period and the amortization method are
reviewed at least at each financial yvear end. f'the expected useful life of the asset is significantly different
from previous estimates, the amortization period is changed accordingly.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the profit or loss

when the asset 1s derecognized.

Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement
Trade receivables and debt sccuritics issucd are initially recognised when they are originated. All
other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Company becomes a

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

All financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sel!l an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurcment date. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition 1s generally its transaction
price (that is, the fair value of the consideration given or received). However, if there is a difference between
the transaction price and the fair value of financial instruments whose fair value is based on a quoted price
in an active market or a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the Company
recognies the difference as a gain or loss at inception (*day | gain or loss’}. In all other cases, the entire
day 1 gain or loss is deferred and recognised in the income statement over the lite of the transaction until
the transaction matures or is closed out.

A financial assct or financial Hability is initially measured at fair value plus, {or an item not at fair valuc
through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.




Duct India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: US5101HR2008PTC046802

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024
(Al amounts are in rupees millions, wless otherwise stated)

ii. Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at

- amortised cost;

- FVOCI — debt investment;

- FVOCI - equity investment; or

- FVTRL,

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except if and in the period the
Company changes its business model for managing financial

assets.

A financial asset 1s measured al amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not

designated as at FVTPL:
— the asset is held within a business mode! whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash

flows; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dales to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measure at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as

at FVTPL:
— theassctis held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and
— the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

pavments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at
FVTPL. This includes ail derivative financial asscts. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at
FVOCI as at FVTPL. if doing so climinates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would

otherwise arise.

Financial assets: Business model assessment
The Company makes an assessmert of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held

al a portfolio level because this best refiects the way the business is managed and infunmation is provided Lo
management, for instance the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio, frequency, volume and timing
of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales

activity.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely pavments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, *principal® is defined as the fair value of the financial assct on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks
and costs {e.g. liquidily risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that 1
would not meet this condition. In makifng,%ﬁggessment, the Company considers:
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- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable interest rate features;

- prepayment and extension features;

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Finangial These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including
assets at any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or [oss.
FVTPL

Financial assets | These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
at amortised cost | method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. [nterest income, foreign
' exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in  profit or loss. Any gain
i or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments [ These asscts arc subscquently measured at fair value. Interest income under the
at FVOC cffective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Dther net gains and losses are recognised in OCL On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in

QCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

LCquity These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as
© investments income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of purt of
at FvOCl the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are

not reclassified to profit or loss

Financial liabilitles: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and [osses

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classificd
as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial
recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any
interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. lnterest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss, Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecagnition

Financial assets
The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial -
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
Company neither transfers nor retains substantially afl of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not
retain contrel of the financial asset.

If the Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its balance sheet, but retains
either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets, the transferred assels are not

derecognized.
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Financial liabilities
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations arc discharged or cancelled,
or expire.

The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under
the modified terms are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on  the modified
terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in profit or loss,

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet when,
and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends
either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the assel and settle the liability simultaneously.

Modification of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets.
If the terms of a financial asset are modificd, the Company cvaluates whether the cash tlows of the modified

asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantiaily dillerent, then the contractual rights to
cash flows from (he original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial
asset is derecognized and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value.

[f the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost are not substantially different, then the
modification does not result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the Company recalculates
the gross carrying amount of the financial assel and recognizes the amount arising from adjusting the gross
carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss.

Iinancial Liabilities.

'the Company derecognizes a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
moditied liability arc substantially diffcrent. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified
terms is recognised al [air value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
extinguished and the new financial hability with medified terms is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment

A. Impairment of financial instruments

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether a financial asset or a group of linanciai asscts is
impaired. lnd AS-109 on Financial Instruments, requires expected credit losses to be measured through a
loss allowance. For trade receivables only, the Company recognises expected lifetime losses using the
simplified approach permitted by Ind AS-109, from initial rccognition of the receivables. For other
financial assets (not being equity instruments or debt instruments measured subsequently at FVTPL.) the
expected credit losses are measured at the 12 month expected credit losses or an amount equal to the
lifetime expected credit losses it there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
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The Company recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial assets measured at
amortized cost.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt
securities at Fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL} are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-
impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows ol
the financial assel have oceurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

-significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
-a breach of contract such as a default or being past duc for 90 days or more:
- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider

otherwise;
-it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or
- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected credil losses, cxcept for the
following, which are measurcd as 12 month expected credit losses

- debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other debt securities and bank batances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to fifetime expected credit
losses.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over
the expected life of a financial instrument,

12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument

is less than |2 months).

In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum
contractual peried over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since inttial
recognition and when estimating expected credit losses, the Company considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credil obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the
Company to actions such as realizing security (if any is held); or
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- the financial asset is 90 days or more past due.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate ol credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to reccive),

As a practical expedient, the Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss allowance on
portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed default rates over
the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the [orward-icoking estimates are
analyzed.

Presentation of allowance for expected credit losses in the balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent Lhat
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Company determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write- off. However, financial asscts that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company's procedures for recovery of amounts duc,

B. Impairment of Non-financial assets

(3)

The carrying amounts of asscts are reviewed at cach reporting date if there is any indication of impairment
based on internal/external factors. An impairment loss is recognized wherever the carrying amount of an
asset (or cash generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount., The recoverable amount is the greater of the
asset’s {or cash generating unit’s) net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the asset (or cash generating unit).

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss 1s reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past event and it is
probabie that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settie the obligation,
in respect of which a refiable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the fiability, The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost. Provisions
are reviewed by the management at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates
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{6) Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the
Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation, or a present obiigation whose amount cannot be estimated
reliably. The Company does not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the {inancial

statements.

(7} Borrowing Cost
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs (including cxchange difterences arising from foreign currency
borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) incurred by the Company
in connection with the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs directly attributable to acquisition and/or
construction of those tangible fixed assets which necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended in the period during
which active development is delayed due to interruption, other than temporary interruption. Other
borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Profit and Loss inthe period in which they

are incurred.

(8) Recognition of interest income or expensc

[nterest income or expensc js recognised using the effective interest method.
The *effective interest rate’ is the rate thal exactly discounts estimated luture cash payments or receipts
through the expected 1ile of the [inancial instrument to:

- the gross carrving amount of the financial asset; or

- the amortised cost of the financial liability.
In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. However, for
financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the eflective interest rate to the amortised cost of the [inancial assct. If the assct is
no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

(9) Income Taxes
[ncome tax comprises current and deferred tax. 1t is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it

relates Lo an item recognised directly in equity or in other comprebensive income,

Current tax

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
reflects the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received after considering the uncertainty,
if any, related to income taxcs. [t is measured using tax rates (and tax laws) cnacted or substantively enacted
by the reporting date. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax retums with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Company shall reflect the effect
of uncertainty for each uncertain tax treatment by using either most tikely method or expected value method,
depending on which method predicts better resolution of the treatment.
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(10)

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset only if there is a legally enforceable right to set off
the recognised amounts, and it is intended to realize the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or
simultaneousty.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax
{1abilities are recognized for alt taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary dilferences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductibie temporary differences, and the carry forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax fosses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting dale and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when
the asset is realised, or the liability is settled, based on tax rates {and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively cnacted at the reporting dale.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in
other comprchensive income or in equily). Deferred lax itcms arc recognised in correlation to the underlying
transaction either in QCI or directly in equity,

The Company ofTsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax labilities if and only ilit has a legally enforceable
right 1o set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and delerred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or o
realise the assets and settle the liabilitics simultancously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of delerred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Segement reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief

operating decision maker (CODM).

1dentification of segments

In accordance with Ind AS 108, Operating Segment, the operating segments used to presenl segment
information are identified on the basis of information reviewed by the CODM 1o allocate resources to the
segments and assess their performance. An operating segment is a compoenent of the Company that engages
in business activities from which it carns revenucs and incurs expenses, including revenues and expenses
that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s other components.
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(1)

(12)

(13)

Inventorics

Inventories which comprises stock of foed and beverages (including liquor), operating supplies and stock-
in-trade are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost of inventories comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventory to their present location and condition. In
determining the cost, first in first out (“FIFO™) method is used. Net realisable valuc is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, Icss estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs to make

the sale.

Earnings per share
Basic carnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit or loss for the period attributable to equity

shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Equity shares that will be issued upon the conversion of a mandatorily convertible instrument arc included
in the calculation of basic earnting per share.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the profit or loss for the period attributable to
equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period are adjusted
for the effects of all dilutive potential cquity shares, except where the results would be anti - dilutive.

Employee Benefits

(a) Short-term employee benefits

Employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of recciving employcee services are classified as
short-term employee benefits. These benefits include salaries and wages, short-term bonus and ex-gratia.
The undiscounted amount of short-term emplovee benefits to be paid in exchange for employee services
is recognized as an expense as the related service is rendered by employess.

{b) Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plan — Provident fund and Employee State Insurance

A delined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays specitied
contributions and has no obligation to pay any further amounts. Provident fund scheme and employee
state insurance are defined contribution schemes. The Company makes specified monthly contributions
towards these schemes. The Company's contributions are recorded as an expense in the Profit or loss
during the period in which the empioyee renders the related service. [f the contribution already paid is
less than the contribution payable under the scheme for service received before the balance sheet date, the
deficit payable under the scheme is recognized as a liability after deducting the contribution already paid.
I the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for services received before the balance sheet
date, then excess is recognized as an asset (o the extent that the pre-payment will lead to a reduction in

future payment or a cash refund.

Defined benefit pian — Gratuity
The Company's gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of obligations under such

defined benefit pians are determined bascd on actuariai valuation carried out by an independent actuary
using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period of service as giving rise to an
additional unit ol employee benefit entitlement and measures each unit separately to build up the final

obligation,
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(14)

The obligation is measured at the present value of estimated future cash tlows. The discount rates used
for determining the present valuc of obligation under defined benefit plans, are based on the market yields
on government securities as at the balance sheet date, having maturity period approximating to the terms
ol related obligations.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income
and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recognized immediately in the profit or loss as past
Service Cost.

(c) Other long-term employee benefit obligations — Compensated absences

The employees can carry-forward a portion of the unutilized accrued compensated absences and utilize it
in future service periods or receive cash compensation on termination of employment.

Accumulated leave, which is expected to be utilized within the next 12 months, is treated as short-term
employee benefit. The group measures the expected cost of such absences as the additional amount that
it expects to pay as a result of the unused entiliement that has accumulated at the reporting date. The group
recognizes expected cost of short-term employee benefit as an expense, when an employce renders the
related service.

The Company treats accumulated leave expected to be carried forward beyond twelve months, as long-
term employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-term compensated absences are provided
for based on the actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit methed at the reporting date. Actuarial
gains/losses are immediately taken to the statement of profit and loss and are not deferred. The obligations
are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an uncenditional right
to defer the settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

Revenue recogaition

Revenue is measured at the transaction price that the Company receives or cxpects to receive as
consideration for goods supplied and services rendered, net of returns and estimates of variable
consideration such as discounts to customers. Revenue from the sale of goods excludes taxcs such as VAT
and Goods and Services Tax which are payable in respect of sale of goods and services.

Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when the Company performs its obligations to
its customers and the amount of revenuce can be measured reliably and recovery of the consideration is
probable.

The timing of such recognition in case of sale of goods is when the control over the samc is transferred to
the customer, which is mainly upon delivery and in case of services, in the period in which such services
are rendered.

Sale of food and beverages and other allied services
Revenue is recognized upon rendering of services and sale of food and beverages. The Company collects
GST on behall of the government and thercefore, there are no economic benefits flowing to the Company.
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(15)

Leuses
Company as o Lessee

On inception of a contract, the Company (as a lessee) assesses whether it contains a lease. A contract is, or
comains a lease when it conveys the right o control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Company assesses whether: (1) the contract involves the use of an identified asset (ii) the
Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of the
lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU™) and a
corresponding lease liability for all Icase arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term
of twelve months or less (shorl-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low valuc lcasces,
the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease.

Lease contracts may contain both lease and non-lcase components. The Company allocates payments in
the contract to the lcase and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices and applics
the leasce accounting model only to lease components.

The right-of-use assets are initially recognised at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease
[iability adjusted for initial direct costs incurred. lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, any asset restoration obligation, and less any lcase incentives received. They are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated deprectation and impairment losses. Right-of-usc assets are also adjusted
for any rc- mecasurement of lease liabilities, Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
of the {eased assets or renewal of the leases at the end of the lease term, recognised right-of-use assets are
depreciated to a residual value over the shorter of their estimated usetful life or lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present vaiue of the lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including ‘in-substance fixed' payments) and variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, less any lease incentives receivable. *In-substance fixed'
payments are pavments that may, in form. contain variability but that, in substance, are unavoidable. In
calculating the present value of lcase payments, the Company uscs its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease term includes periods subject to extension options which the Company is reasonably certain to
exercise and excludes the effect of carly termination options where the Company is not reasonably certain
that it will exercise the option, Minimum lcase payments inciude the cost of a purchase option 1if the
Company is reasonably certain it will purchase the underlying asset afier the lease term.

Lease liabilities are re-measured with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset if the
Company changes its assessment if whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option and any
fcase modification.
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(16)

Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments
have been ¢lassified as financing cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cush and cash equivalents comprises of cash at banks and on hand, cheques on hand and short-term,
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

(17) Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Company's business, the operations and cash flows of which
can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Company and which:

- represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations;

- is part ol a single co-ordinated plan (o dispose of a separale major line of business or geographic area of
operations; or

- is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view (o resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held-for-sale.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit and loss is
re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

(18) Exceptional items

On certain occasions, the size, type or incidence of an item of income or expense, pertaining to the ordinary
aclivities of the Company is such that its disclosure improves the understanding of the performance of the
Company. Such income or expense is classified as an exceptional item and accordingly, disclosed in the
financial statements.
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3 Property, plant and equipment andl Right of wse assets

Reconciliation of carrying amount

Office equipment  Plant and machinery

{tight of
L'se
{Building}j

Total property,
plant and
equipment

Totzl Right-af-use
assets

Ceross carrying amount
Balance as at 01 April 2022 - -
Additions during the yoos 0.2
Deletions during the vear -

- 3nl
018 -

Balance a5 at 3t March 2023 0.02
Addilians Juring the year L3R -
Beletums durirg the vear (L]

013 3.61
N.5% -
07 340

Balance as at 31 March 2024 - -

Accumutated depreciadon
Balance as at 1 April 2622 - -

Dicpreciaton charge For the vear o

Reversal on disposal of assets

- 0.u3
0ol 095

0.01
ol
{002y

Balance as at 31 March 2023 N
0.04

Reversal on disposa ol asscets (109

Depreciation charge for the year

i1 1.90
nin 093

iy (2.43]

Balance as at 31 March 2024 - -

Net earrying amouont

Balance as at 31 March 2023 iz [N &)

Balunce as at 31 March 2024 - -

017 1.71

4 Intangible assets

Recenciliation of carrying amount

Computer saftware Tortal

Gross carrving amoune
Balance as at 01 April 2022 -
Additions during the vear

Dreictions during the year -

Batance as at 31 Mareh 2023
Addrions during the vear .

Delelions during the vear

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Accumutlated amortisation

Ralance as al 0F April 2622 - -
Amorusation expense bor the vear 0.13
Amertisation expense jor the vear

Bulaace as at 31 March 2023
Amartisation expense tor the yvear &
Amortizauon expense fos the vear -

Balance as at 31 March 2024

Net carrying amaonnt

Balance as at 31 ¥arch 2023
Baulaace us ut 31 March 2024 - -




Truct Tactea Hoateks (Bammalire) Private Limited

1

Nures 1 g finacial sta
AR ey are oo Ingdecen

5

LESHH RS T CLASnT
rmenls far the year ended 3 March 2024
i)

ey athran

wiewr s el

herime Lis sssets fret)

Ay al
31 Ylarch 2024

1 nd

Al
31 March 2023

Advance income % [inclodees T3S receevable net of provizann)

144

143

Tenm fay

A The regjinr compmicats alincaille [as espense /e

Rucnunised in peadit ar liss
Currenl i
Llalewed s

Frv the yeur eoded
3t Murch 2024

Forthe year emilenl
31 March 2023

Rewounised in Oriwee coneprebensive income

Fur the vear eakel
31 Murch 2124

Far the yeer caded
31 March 2023

neane @ an athes sontgrelizuse g oy - Ll

- 1021
B. Reconailiation il eflective o rate St vepensy and the acometing eofie multiplied by Compans s demreestic gae rateh

Fur the vear enchurd Fur the swar enilol
A1 March 124 31 Varch 123
kil AR T Aminni
Tonga butire 17530 12235
T ws:ng Use Cangpans, & donsesin Ly iy PARET ionzm 3122 IR
Tux Etfeet iz
Sgm-daduetinls dilfororees 15 Iniy 1,2 1 3L W3
Lizme on ach special Lax rawe apoined SLTG 230 (] - .
Zelormed tax assol rol created oo e Fanwand lossos o cwess i Jelooad ux - - 42003 1411
ikl on ether compoacnls
Broig i ltwaed T oy nol -cougaissd - - [HRE) 318
Effective tax rule {176,251 141 12.13 (R
. Delerred tas asscls S liatnl
Asat Al

Deferred v waaets
wid hsses asd unabsorbed o ooation

Can die
Tronsion Jor cmplovee berelils
(SR TR

31 Murch 2024

31 Adarch 2023

Tz
.35

143

Bigh:

Delerred cax Halnlives
Lease receavalle

#.11

32

032

LE

Dhelerred 1y assers Imed)

et deleTes 1av gs5at nal weogrsed or camy forwar? “usses arg urabsorbed depreciation

an3

Dcfurred tax asset SAhalnhityy recnitise|

Asoac ] Mareh MiZ3 e Campars 2ad sgnil
by by pronins, dulirsd tas asset has been sozaenize onlv s the exest ol delzimed s Labitis

cemarty il aulTiew:

D, Yvemenr i wemparary dfferences
31 Varch TP

Lmilhsorbes dupreciatindcarmed lorwerd basmcss asses as por Incems Tae AL

PR D amis benge ol the aosence oF eeseaahls

Lty at
01 Aqril 2025 (4)

Paeticular

Deferred tan
ditferences
wenerated bol nm
recaunised duving
Anrlie Macld

Bulunce ws m |
31 Murch 2024
iC-a-B)

1]
Lelerril En g
[nahsarhed b 5 andd dopired atian TI: -
" N s N e !
fRightal Lse Asses e B
5.1 -]
Dreferriet B linkalibs
3eaza iwzhines RS 140 | - |
- N WA i [T — ]
el dulerrod ciy asiet L] hbd -




Truct Tralia Hotels {Bangaleee) Private Lemied
CIN: USRS LU HR2OUHPT Cl4nRIr:
Ml e the Fagacial statements (or the yeae endet 31 March 2004

i vt re w fodieer Begpee et saders s ose ved)

31 Murch 7023

Balunce as at Delerred 1ux Ralame a5 at
b ApTil differemees 31 March 20258
. J— i {'=a+E
Particulurs 1A] .:‘A.nLl'nl_lUi hat r:m I ]
recagrised during
w222
\ _(R)
Deferred tay asseis
Lmibsorbed busoess lass and de precealion 187
Privs 1g1am (e e sian co bicctitg 04
Ricalol Use bsscls e
: 2,94
Lase lishikuzs (0. 75 L]
745 1124
Nt deierred s aseet in o] 3.63
E. Tax losses and unnhsorbed depaecianam carricd fnrmard
Tax insses lon which 0o deleasd s 2ssel was peeaghised wih 2eping 2o arg as Tndlows
Azt
31 Mareh 2023
Amuunt Expicy Pertidd {FY)

[Husincss toss

2029-30
Rusiness lasg e
Tusnwss loss e B

Unabaarbed deprecsauon oo e




Dy India Hotels (Banealore) Private Limited
CIN: LSS HR 200EFT Coda802

otes ta the financizl sraremenis for the year ended 31 March 2024
LA ot ree ap agan Repeed sifons, sedess ofiru e siotefi

& Inventories
(reducd e fawe e nf cond amed net readeahie verfe;

Food and beveraues,
Srares and aperanng supphes

? Financial assers - Current

Tlat  Corrent financial assets - Trade receivables

Fivvvanvgd and consadered gongd, s oo gased

Teade recer ahler

Asat Asat
31 March 224 3 March 2023
- [P
- a7
- 1.86
Asar As at

31 dlarch 2024

31 Muarch i3

-Considered wood - Bl
- EILE
Less Loss allewance - -
- EUE 3]
al Rafer e 26 e coes frem. relzled paries
b The Company's =xposuis e ceedn and cureenzy risks, and loss allowasczs relmed o rade 1 zecivables are dr
Trade veceivahles aocing schedule
Agoar 31 Murch 2024
: e - Ourstanding for lollowing periods from date of umnsaction
Particuiars Unhilted Revenue Less than o | & mnihs - Mewe than 3 years Total

manths I year
1i] Undisputed Trade rocenvables — considered zood - - - - -
(01 Undisputed lrae eve. vables — oodi imps red - - -
Tatal - il il P
Asaf 31 March 2025

Cupstanding for Following perivs frem duie of wansaction
lessthan b6 {4 ihs -
Particulars LUnbilled Revenue <55 than monfhs More than 3 years Total

manths I year
1) Lndispured Trade receivables — eons:gerad gend - 3087 - - 382
() Undrspured Trade cecsivables - ci2dit anpaued - - - B -
Trtal - 5082 - - 3HE2

Asoat 45 a0

rrent finangial assets - Cash and cash equivalents

L

Balances with banks
= I CAITEAD ACRn
sk an Aand

Tiel Cwrrend financial assets - Others
A orseenred. congidered goed
Secuniny depasits
Othey recenvaales fredes now 20 & 23
] Other current assels
(Tireered and cosiderad myd)

Advanee 1w suppliers

Srarr adwanc 2
Prepoud oxpenses

31 March 2024

31 March 2023

[us 2R3
204
D45 6.87

Az ar
3 March 2024

A at
31 March 2023

- o1z
SZ8HI1 2234
51881 2146

Az at Asoat

3t March 2024

31 March 2023

[
N
SR

=

Y
I3




Diuce India Hatels |Bangaiore} Private Limited

CIN: US3 10T HR2MEPT Cadsane

Notes tn the finaneind starements for the year ended 31 Warch M4
A s dtaon o ppdess aileraes gt

SA bt € e o B

% Equity charc capital

Autharised share capital
Eguty sharcs vk TSR T cacl

Essued, subscribed and fully pairl up

oo shares al PNE 0 aeh

ion af Lhe equity shares pastanding at the begemmng and at che end of reparting vear

a) Reconc

Equity shares

ALthe be ing el the year
Add Tssuwed durmg the voar
At the end af the year

b Rights, prefererees and restrictipns atiached i equine shares

The Comaae has o wing c cliss o cquile sharcs, Accordi

a5 amd when dezlared snbjeel in pavme

the Campany. the halders ol
held, Dy ihe sour endzd 31 Maged 2

Shares held by ulisvace habding company? Boldieg company andfor their subsidisrivs’ assoistes

Asal Asat
31 March 2024 31 Murch 2023
Number of shares Aangung Number of shares Amagung
S ubfikm b + ML 445
4,590,144 4591 4.9.000 49,90
23T ind 2 3AT O I13AT
26T 6N 2387 26T 65 1567
Far the vear ended For the yeas ended

3L WEareh 2024 31 Maech 21213
Sumber of shares R her of shares Ymnunt
2367
. i
1367068 13.67

iwssets THe apmin szanes ane extitled 1w receive dividend
zquity capital al the €ompans O wading up al”

Name ol sharcholder

As at
3 Murch 224

A Al
31 March 2013

Number of shares Kyt Number al shares Amuounl
Fquity shares af Bs. 10 cach fully paid up keld by
ey Indan latels (Hyderaizad ) Feovale Dimied, oe holding compaps w o 20 Faoruan 2124+ R NI Iral . -
halding cammany wll 10 Awgus 5= - - 1 PR AT 17 9
nilicznl imfansz nl, 10 Aupns 073 . e S TR
2367068 2567 367068 23.67

aghl e e G Las a5 0 norhines s2w chaltlo

v shares af the Company

Bdeails of shareholders hobding mure than

Name nf sharcholder

Equecy shaves of TNR L] each
Dt ladua Blotets sy derabed ) Procete Cimited. the halding compies w e 019 Fubtgin 203
AU Mazriaue 1.t howeaag compeny wil 13
AUIC Slauntess Boantny ~aomg siem et olleenge all 1O Sugus 2

Dietails +f shares held by pramatcrs

Asar 31 Mierch 2124

Adat
31 March 124
W uf Bolding

Az
3 ¥larch M123

Numiber of shures ol holding

her of shares

23RT AR 12 - .
Liusnr2
- - LA
2.367.068% i 2567008

S al shures
£ ¥a, Promoler Name at the

Change during the

Nu. of shares at the

el Tatal Shares "o change during

\ueoinnina af vear ord uf the vear the yean

L A1 Yaurihos | | 35Ra2 VLT [F) —LOH

1 ACIC Slzuniuos 2 RCERHT ARSI (L2 —L00

K Fuet Inctii Hotels o8 I derabas Fes cle Limited . L7 Ik 1, L
1,357.068 - [[H e

As b 51 ¥largh 2023

Na. of chares
arthe

Change during the

Nl shures ut the

: . “a change during
o af Tatad Shares Fe funne

& No. Prameafer Name besinning @l ear wrh of the wear the vear
ihe vear
| AT Mannnes | [l IS - -
2 AUTC MariLus 2 SEH .
2367068 - -
In Bsn v sears thene was an bomws wsue e bagh and o0 ssene of sharzs athe: e Ter cash consdeosien

ronded G arch 0240 S0P Flote’s Limined -ulimanz seldinyg compey w oz
s Phe Iecdea Huwg s tHs darabad 1 fevaws Luinned en 2% Febiaas




It dmibg Hustels (Ranaliaey Prvste Linioed
CIN: CAR TR HR DR T I 6K 2
Notes {o thae Fregmgial statements for the sear erided $1 March 2024

EUDNTELE SR CRST Y

LUK nemeads ung wn Bypiaes

16 Quher eqoity

Hecnnu s prem au
Ceeatt it iy cellons siebsal s e bl el e parsn comparn
Capatatl conuribnben sn b
Beiungd g

Oalr gorrelasie imeons « Recasizaments of delined ben

ol Lin gl cemzany

bl - asaa

at Securities premiom

Bagnze o ibe heguning ol the s yzn
Add : addivnas madz diong, ihe war
Badasce o tibe el g ihe vear

RECUFAICS PRCIEN 05 UZCE oo pcnrd [l pranmiwns reccecs an s of shares. FOs nbhesd 0 azcardasce wilt e previsians el e Cocpanes el 2017

lib Distribmtiom b fellos aubsidigrics wo behail ol the perend comegany
Barlanice an als; Deginneia ul kg v

S e i g v car
Bainze 23 the end of the vzar

T
‘rdcpendent ratly. thase lnans wore 1czoninied
S0 Loy Lzansacunn prroe o e lan vides: of 2us foans
w3 rcooe od Ra 0w eallice

S mierzal Nes leaus awd areassimgh, b

semie s Lo T ddlgrgg e
Dumng 1he cierrenl verr ended 1 Manch 2024, the Canps

el Capita] contributiee an behoell of the parent crmpany

izl b,
felmwement durimg, <
Balance ar the year eml

eing al ez e

1

The cemgain Pl ol nerscenpen:le louns Do s Ty
zoninbusian an behall of she patent campany

dy Retamit carnings
itlamzz al 1hz hegiaeine 21 he & cac

Fralt
Trinsfermed Iram mler camprelensive e

nesl [or che vear

Batunce a1 the end af tae eoar

Rlaed e s renresenl ~he annum ol aczums el pandizarlessest ok te Campaan,

13 Dhaer comprehensive income - Remeasuremencs of defired henelit liab

Halanee s
Rerizremems al dalived bene:
Fronsle ved 1o rchaed 2
Fnilenize el god of ah voag

ik b g 1r

AL e al sy

Henpzpsingmenly of gclincd banzlin bikshey comprises sonur 3l 22008 and bisass

S vip s, e Conpam Bad becn nancng menest recos erbla oo such lus @ ligle of e sl Tew Zasshains o0 iese Gronp compaiics Conside ing
Bera raguemsad and megsiesd o T valies Fosahes Toe sl peinenag sanim heing recoverable. the

012 iellow sibsidiarics los beer recagmiced as & distnbubion on izl ol whanale beldieg Soope, s

AT
2 Marel 204

REEE )
§2M A

17 3%
Al

SMNeuNG

A
3 March 214

R

THE

EENT)
1 March 224

T ED
11 %0

A5 ar
H ¥avch 2024

[ER-1)

5y

1.5

aubsidingie Simee e ke ace uec), Teee Bp ang alsg segsncble o rbe rerion of e arcogcs. Beacs Wiese loans e Been o,

Ry
3 ¥areh W24

[

O]

AL 14

As al
A1 Marck 201

e sulsliuwe ol e asrecmeed el e

st
21 ¥larch 1023

TR

At
St March hi2d

2485

Xy

ik or e s pat e gt s
ezl g diealed the

As A
31 March 223

1

14,141

il Ly 1 vioprtaal

A%l
A0 ¥areh 2021

17
1z

Asal
3L March 213

a1
oy




Druet India Tlotels {Bangalnred Private Limired

CIN: USS10IHR 2G0T T C 46302

Nodes to the Ninancial stetemends for the year ended 31 March 2024
AR crarepanar et oo Trechitee Rpdee s mutfone sl astar ey i)

11 Nonecurrent foancial lubilities - Lease liabil
Zease Inalnlines

1T Nnh gurremd peavisiong
Promion o e ploy e benehie

Chitwis FReler o Mo <7
Cumrpensatzd abssnees |Retoe e Nate 171

I3 Financiaf lisbilities - Curcem

13a) Corveng fi

Lewsz hamlitics

As at
3i March 024

Asan
31 March 2055

0 ih

96

As a1
31 Mureh 224

As at
31 March 2023

B

Asat
3L March 2024

Asat
31 March 1023

11t

- Lin
L3bh Current Ninancial labilities - Trade payables Asal As Al
3 March 2024 3 March 2023
Tradz paables
- tatal nutslandi mitre eeteprises and zmall cnterprises DUEME) - 3]
- tatal sty e ol Credilm s other diam oiicee dheron ses anel L] anne ses Y ixAT
087 3402
ta) Rk ta Motz 30 fae dize osuares ander Micen Smaill and % oedmm Euwerprises Development Aes D006 cISAED,
thi Reder o Nnte 2 or melaed pars halarces
o) The Company's exposure o cerrenes wtd liguidie, “isks relaund 1o e o ables s disclased = Mow 27
TFrade peyables areing scheduic
Ay at 31 March 2114
I : Qutsrznding for follawing period rom due dae of transaction
' Particulars ' Agerned Expenses lgss cham 1 year .3 years Mare than 3 vears Toral
IR ERNI [ - -
1i) Cuhers 57 - - - 087
Total 057 - - -
As at 31 March 3023
Datsianding for ollowing period from due date of transaction .
FPartivulars ASeorued Espenses Less than 1 year E-2 years 2-3 years ‘Horr than 3 years Total
s M5 E . L5 - - 1.85
1ud Glhets . ENEY) - - J137
Tatal - 3412 - .12
Te Camppass dows pal A any disputes ducs which ass pas abbs a5 20 33 March 2004 and 31 Murc!
Asal Ag at

13ie) Currvent financial liahiliries - Ochers

Emplos ze relaed pasables

14 Other current lisbilities

Slatalor dues o able

5 {urrent provisinns

Prisy aiu

31 Murch 2014

38 March 2025

G

0.4

As ar
31 March 2614

Az
31 Mareh 2023

A at
31 Muarch 3024

Asat
31 March 1023




Duet Indiu Hotels | Banzalare) Private Timited

CIN: LRSI HR MHIBPTLILARNY

Nutes v the Tinancicl statomems fae the vear chaled 31 ¥arch 2624
i wiiteed]

FAR L e 2 B e B ov At e ey ot

16 fhber inconte

litzrest pn ncore v refind

Fur 13 vear cnded Fuor the grar cnded
31 March 2024 30 March 2023
B nie
.07

luacous ooy

17 Emplayee hencfit ox pense

& Delined comeibieiong plans
{ii Gemtuity

1he Company makss confoibalions deleemned o3 o spocdicd poregia: of smplets; <altrics 0 respect of qualdvinz empio
Furd and Empleyce,” Siaw lasocance, which are defiazd counbonog plass Tie Compam has e ol
cuntls bntiong we charsed o poolie on Joass o e rue.
Emplayecs Siale irsurznce lar the yea- aggregatad w VR N ek Sarch 2,

u

W ANALAE ereEsed a5 e S enss 10wars

. Creprensated abienees

The principal assumphons scd n delermining wrnuily bercli obliggions e the Compary s olan are zhow g below:

Asal

30 Vhrch 2024
L
NA

Paviiculars

Wizonmims rats .

Salary
Raizemen: Spo Years:

awilerare pa

. Befined Bonelu Plaa

Lratyity

The Company las 2 delErod el mags pln Bz smploses who las oo o'awd fne vears o more ol scrves
I'zerves The sehame is nat funded

e galaay) For cach complowd oo
Tre Ml ng whles swmaancs e compaaents ol el beneln expunss 2

il ok Protic and Lass

al Esperme recogmscd et SLake
Fuwr the veur endied

Pariicolars 31 March 1

arren Seo s ol

alcaon ws Provident Fund. abion Wl

sewaryds Pravicen Fund, Labou Wl
gy clier e o make e spezificd conndnciens The

Fund 1nd

At
31 March 2023
e
T3
lin
ik

4 4 ceanine ar depanure 10 15 davs mlars dag

uniseed i3 profite loss o) amgnes secopmeed 1 the Gaeanes Sheet o the sad plan®

Fur the year emded
31 Murch 2013
s
nn-

Tmicrest cosl

)

Tutal expenses recerzmised m e Stateinent of Prolic and Loss JEE

by Remewsurements recosmieed divctly in other compreechensive inpome
Fur the vear cnded

31 March 24

Particulars

i noche 1ear
UL
e SRS 1 OnEteic! JssTmpeons

Fur rhe aear enalod
31 March 2123

g
il

- COAREES N CAPUILERLE I | WSt nls

.41y

Ampunt recognized monlher comprehensive ingnme

) Chamee in preeseed sadwe uf Beaclie sbligaton
Fiar the wear ende

31 Mareh 2024
N
< an

Pariiculars

Presce szlue ol obigation as i Inzinre g el the scar

CUrTens seTice Sost

iRleiest cosl

“aabily nansdeeed ander RTA
Al 1) ong

[BR.EH

L

For the yrar cniled
34 Mlarch 2023
0.3
ns+s
ne4
fhn2y

FBemlitg prans

i3

Present vibwe of nilization b5 at the enct of the

) Amowunds to b recrienesett m Bakance Sheo

Particulars A al

31 March 224

atican st cnd gl ihe vea

Praseul vitloe ol the sodines bengtin eldiy

Asal
F1 March 2023
[FH

Fair vatoe nl plan asscis a0t sud of the 1ear

)

Wt liahility recizsmzed in the Balance Sheer

ROLITEAT)
Cutighi

ann e as e helnw

1 Thy pringipal sssmaptions osed in determining (he sratuity benetit obl

Asinl
H March 2024
Na
WA

Partivnlars

[ gan g e i 4 1)
Salary zrewih rase pa

1 The dscuuni rite 145 o

wth 7L ke acsaunl a7 infation scmmste, praeat o and oiha zzlevan fzaes aa long orm basis

1z The salary g

Dheznaarapliiy assmpeions

Rotergibicnl Leg f1oari) AN

Sloeany Talde R

Wbl Rae £

Ages

Ll 300 ewrs By

Fraim 31 .0 44 sears Na
N

Ay 14 rems

ﬁ
84

e,

6

[l

LLE
31 March 24123
2y

7.3
Lo

s1ally anses g ke markel velds avatable on Covermiment boads al the avcounting dite aoth o e den ek hes dead ol o kil o

As
31 Mawgh 2023

i
ol 1AL
M




Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

C13: U510 HRI008PTC G502

Notes Lo the financial statements for the year emded 31 March 2024

Al amorees are o Todon Riipees elfions. wnless dthe nvse siaded;
17 Employee benefit expense

Rensitivity anaivsis

A quantitative sensitivity analysis lar significane assumption is us shown helow

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Increase * Diecrense = Increase * Deeregse *
Mescom cate 10.5% movement) - - 104 i
- - 0.04 IOXE

Salary wrowth rate 1D 3% movement

The sensinvily anaiyses above Tave been determined based on a method that extrapelazes the impact on defined benetit obliganon as a rezolt of
rzasonable changes w key assumprions aceuring atthe end of the rgporung pereed

Sensitivities due to mortalicy and withdrawals rate are 2ot snatunal and hence nnpact of chaage nor caleularea

The average duration of the defined beoefny plan ebligation al he end of e reporting peciod i3 Wi March 348270 3 85 vears),

2] Yaturity prohfle of defined berefit ahlipztion Asal Asat
3t March 2024 31 March 2013
fuar
-1 vear . _
1-2 yean - .11
2-3 year - Rl
Jedwear . 0N
B3 year - 6o
- 01,64

More than 3 vear
- 0.99




Duet India Hlalels (Bangalore) Private Limired
CIN: 3310 HRZDDSPTCU6 8102
“otes to the financial statements for the year ended 3§ March 2024

A G g ) Dnsfiern Bapees ntfiens, wmle s ofcmned viateod)

Far the year ended
51 Alarch 2024

13 Finance vists

Fur the year ended
31 March 2023

Other Fnaicce costs 00i D3R
.51 3§
% Teprec an und amarhisatinn expense For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
Arornsginn nf riangmble assets (refer roe ) 1% e
0,23 0.t3
20 (Mher evpenses Far the year ended Fur the year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2123
Lzygal wnd pralessionzl sies RS
Payonem w aucion ¢ ol -
Rztes and taxes 6 -
Reat evprases 02 L41
0.55 0.0z
Payment to avditovs
As Audirars
Statulory audit LR all
REEE N - 0os
(rher sznaces 030
0rl Wi
21 Karnings/iloss) per share {FPS)
Biasic EPS 1s valoulated b divadizg the loss ter the vean anlutabde ta equiry sharchalders kv tie werghied average nwnber of squity shares antstanding duriny the year.
Dl EFS 15 valvuluted Dy divedizz thee Loss o Uie vews atuibutablde 1o e equity sharehowars by wewshigd average numbes of oquisy shares owstandineg during the vear phis the
wetzhied average munber 9F equily shares thas would ke ssued on conversion of all the dianve porental vyuety shaves ol eyusty sha,
For the year ended For the vear ended
31 Maveh 2124 31 March 2025
From continuing eperatiom
Mt profailass) atnuiable woequity sharshe decs 12217 .94
Werghled average number of sguily shares aulstarding dJunng the year For calcofalicn ol basc TIPS 33467058
Weiahted average numher of cqusry shares oarstancing durir 3 the year for caleulatéan of diluaed FPS 1307508
Somminal vadue af equaty shae (IR %8 i
Basic earningsel.asses] per shase (PVR) ) ¥3 Ea]
Enluted earnmusilosses] per shase [TNRE; oy KD
Fram discontinned rperarions
{313

et prafitInssy ak: table o cnuiry shareholders
Weightes average numaer of gquery shares autstanding curing the year for caloulzean of hasic EP5

iny the year dor celeuliiam ot o:lueed EPS

mnmber of cquuy shares owestanding dur
amizal vai quity shawe [TWR]

[Gas.c zaimngs| losses) cer shave (VK]

Ml

Weghled averay

s mogslosses) e share 4 IVR)

From continwing and discontnued operations
Iz} altributakle 1w equzty shae=alders a3 de

et profi
nidmg durmy the yea- tor calculatzon of basie EPS 1367068

13

Werghted sveraue sumber of equity sha-es o

Weighted average number of equiry shares curslandmg dueiny the year for zaleulanon of diluzed EBS 1.207.068
Nominal value of cquiny share (PNR) Hil
Basiy carmingsdlossess per sharg (IR 212

212063

Tnlutel varningslossess pee sharg {INR)

2347 6§
130 T0ES
10

(525

1% 25

(1293
2IG7 068
2 3748
10

(3 46)
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Duet India Hotels (Bangalore) Private Limited

CIN: USSI0THR2608PTC046802

Notes to 1he financial statements for the year ended 3¢ March 2024
{14! comownts are in Indian Rupees millions, unizss othenvise stated)

24

Commitments and contingencies

fio the extent not provided Jor)
As at As ar

31 March 2024 31 ¥larch 2623

Commitments
Lstimated amount of contracts remaining to be execured on capital account and others,

and not provided for
Contingent liabilities (as certified by the management)
The Company did aot have any contingent liabitity as at 31 March 2024 and s at 31 March 2023

Operating Segments

The Ultmate Holding Company's Chiet Exccutive Officer has been identified as the Chiel Operating Decision Maker (CODM', since he (s
responsible for all magor decisions wor.t the preparzion and execution of business plan, preparalion of budget. planning, alliance. merger.
acquisition and expansion of any new facility. CODM has cxamined the Company's performance fom product and geographic perspective
and has identificd a single busingss segment i ¢, "Developing and rumning of reslaurants”, hence no specilic disclosures have been made.

a) Informatien about products and services
The Company primarily deals in one business namely "Developing and cunning of restaurants”. therefore product wise revenue disclosure is

not applicable.

b) Informatisn about geographical areas
The Company provides services to customers in India. Further, there are no non-current asscts located outside India.

¢) Informaltion zbout major customers (from external custemers)
The Company does nol derive revenue from one customer which would amount w 10 per cent or more of the eniity’s revenue.

e
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Doet Indiz 1kotels {Bangalore) Private Limiled

CTN: UE5101HRHMBPTCO46802

Notes to the financial statements far the year ended 31 March 2024
(AL dimtreees are i oo Bepecs st wodess offesoase sericed)

26 Related party disctosures

2} Related party and nature of velated parey relationship where cantrol exises

Description af relationship

EN:II'I!B of the Party

Ulomute holding compay

Asrva Capital Tovestments Company, Kuwaair [zl 10 Auaust 20037

Vnmate holdimge compars

SAMEN Noels Lirized 1 e 10 Ausust 20273}

lioldny Compary

ACIC Maurws | vl 10 Agaust 20238

Holdens Company

S5AMHI Hotels Limezed caoef 10 Aupus 2023 ¢l 25 Pelbmeary 2024)

Halding Company

et Tndea Hozels P Hyvderalacd) Private Cavred fwe s 25 Debrvary 20247

Loty havirg sigmifeart miluence

AT M anrrius 2 iodl LD Auaens: 26023

b Other relaed parties with whom transactions have taken place

Niseriptian of relationship

Name af the Parry

Felinw Subadiars:

Fel ow Sussician,

e Trdia Hatels Puney Privare Limited

Feliow Scimidiury

Dzt Iadia Hotels §Chennai) Private Limited

Fellow Sithsiciany

Duet india Hotels ( Eyderabads Private Limited iul 29 Februany 2034

[Fellow Suhsidias

Thzet [ndia Horels [ Ahmedahad) Privae Limited

Fellow Subsid:ars

Drzel [ndia Blatels (Navi Mumbaij Prvaie Limned

c} Helzted party transgetivas during the enrrent year/previons vear

Particulars i 31 March 2024 31 March 2013
Distribatiyn to feilow subsidiaries an behalf of the parent com pany - nef received .
Drust Tndia TTotels (Mvderabzd b Private Linitee - 3o 110
Dot Irda Hotels (Japar) Private Limted -
1
Caupital contribution on behalt of the parent company - repaid
T indin Horels 1Navi Mumbar Privace Timiled 37 -
Assets written off B B
Lhuet Tnelss Hotels (F Dederubud b Prvate Limaiied EER -
Reirthursement of expenses
| Duet india Hatets [Hycerabad) Privace Linuted - 0.0
Licence Fees (exciuding TAT) B -
Duet Tncia Hotels (Fbvderabad? Private Lated 120 | 2
Exier Tnd Horsla [ Puinz) Privace ameed 090G BT
Fuod and Beverage Sale (excluding GST)
Dneer Indin Howess § Hestarahad ) Brivae Lirmmed - 310
Euc. T otcl.s“[H\,'u.:iEra.i_\.a.c'.]. Trrvar: Lurited T [ - 7 M)
Taeercompany Enterest paid
Duet India Wotels 4 av MumbBan) Private Timcted - 093
intercompany depasit received hack
Dhuet Iz Hatels (Punc? Poyate Limuted 0 -ill
et Irudia Notels (lredabad ) Procate Limded Th
Dhiet tndia Tletets 1Chennan) Private Limted - 203
el irdia Tocels | Hyderabad) Private Limied i3
Truet Dnchia Harels d Tupwn ) 8roeate Linsted - 123




Duoet India Hotels {Bangalore) Private Limired

CI%: US310THRID0EITCU46502

Nates to the frnancial statem ents (or the year ended 31 Warch 2074
LA enments ave i Srcdiam Bapees aeillons, wmless otfee-ase stevieed)

d} Balanees putstanding at the end afl the year

Particut Holding Company
Ariieutars 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

!Distribution to felow subsidiaries on behall sl the parent company o

[er india Hizels ¢ Ahoradabad) Prvase Limited 450 A0
Ihaet Dndia Haocels | Puney Ponoate |eeriracd : 33240 12340
13uet gl Hotzls (gipawr) Privae Diroged CIEL 1711
Teer Tndia Hotels (Hyderabad) Provare Tooitad NI 1118205
Toues Izdin Horels (Chenrmg Proovase Tamaeerd 1580 | 13 50
Capital contribution on behalf of the parent company

[hier India Hoels ¢ 5avi Muontman Privace Limued 1733 FR.0
Toues Irdia HMotels (Tunc ) Privare Limitod 1267 -
e Incha Botels (Hyderabad) Proeae Linuled SEO 14 -
“T'rade Reccivable

Thuel Endiz Flotels dPune) Privale Limited - 230
Trade Payable
(gt Incdia Hetels [y erabad b Provale Laauled e - a1
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17 Finaawial instvemeans — Faie values b visk mangeement

A Financiad inspruments by calepery and Daie caloe

Sot ewt below 153 cumparisen by s ul e aeeing amuwen,s and Tur value ol e Cemaam s Tl nslwme 2, other thaw Wese woills zarmying amgen:s that ane rasenchle approsem aiuns of G sthyzs -

3 March 2024

Partivalars Level ol Hicrarchy Fair ¥alue Thimuch Fair ¥alue Thromszt Orker ’ | iserl Cust
B Profit and Lass (FYTFPL) Cemprehensive Tivmy
FYTOCR

Finarncial asseis

[Current

- Cagh and cash s adents

nan. il asse s -

Tt fv Ll assens

Finaneigl liahilitics

Current . . T
Curmend Ongagiz laboccbes - Trade povae . 147

I
Tutal linaocial liad -1 - | . e ¥l
I ) 30 Murch 2023
Paricul; Level of Heerarchy Fair Walug Throypl Fair ¥ alue Thraugh {3ther Aminrtised Cost
aruulars Prafit and Leoss (F¥TPL) Camprehenilve Incone:
TOCH
Financial aisers
Currem
Snerem Meanzial assews - Trade receiables - -
Currenl fnansiml assels - Casa and cash cquivalents - -
Current fnanzial azscls - Gihers . ) - .
4
Total Finaiiad avscrs - -I
Firaneial lihil
Nnn-current
Swoa-cwrren Ginaaciat habibbies - Lease Liakiloy 194
Current :
tab s - Lease Labilin L]

Cuarrznt (mancyl
{lurizil francial habehoes - Trade paval
Current Tmadial ligalives - Qb
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Duet lndia Hotels {Bangalore) Private Limiled

CIN: USS I tHR2008PTC 04688

Motes to the Financial state 5 fon- the yem- caded 31 Viarch 2024
A ittt aee o ftictent Rigpees mafhans, wrices sthorase snated)

31 Ratios us required by Schedule IT1 to the Compenies Act, 200 5

Hatie Int times/ % | Numerater Denominator M March 2024 31 Mareh 2023 Increasel decrense "o
2] Currem Rabia Ir: tmes  Total Current Assets Total Curzent Liabhines 60393 7 4251,
(b1 Retum en Equity Rana In s Loss for 10 vear Avgrage Uotal Eguity -l MEg R 1119
s(c) Rewwum on Capnal sp.ved Tn%e Lewsss befare mterest aml Caputai Emyployed  Tang.ble Mes A} S -1 18y, [k
FLNEs Wurth + Total Boczowr

Eaplanations te variauce in Ralios:

Current Katio IThere is roreae 0 curren assets on account af BEA conswderanon seceivahle 2s o 3 | March 2324
Heturn e Cquiiy Ratw i12ecfine 0 niens 15 du 10 oerease in s [Bem conlinuing opezanions Br cutens vear.
Ratum on Capual employed |\:'zriar.r)n 15 et sipnficant

Az tie Company hays ransfarred s basiness operations <lunng the vear snded 31 March 2U24, the Campany has not presented 1he follow rg racoy
a) Dbt service caveraue watio

b} fmventry cumener rakio

b Trade payab e lur=oser rzi

o) Trads receivanie turmosver racio

@) Net capial furscwer it

i ot pref's ratie

up Rer

KT s tnent

32 Sew standards and interpretations. not yei adopted
Mimsiry of coporae atfans o MOA™] notlies uew dandad or amendments 1 1he axigting sandarls umber Coroparwes (Indian Accowting Stedadsy Rules a: sseed Froom meng 2 hme e the

< MOA Das oot netlied any e standards or arercmenis 1o e costing standards applcable wthe Cinngany

wear grdec 31 March 232

zeld an 23 March 2025 approvec a scheme of smalgamaiion for the merger of Duet [odua Elutels |Bangalored Private Linntec {'the Transberor

33 Lhe Boacd of Dirsctens ol e Uoipaiy, i s nies
Cornpasny’) vty Dhuet Ludvs 33otels § [ lyderabad) Poovane Linuted (ke Tossfenze Company'l with ffect from she appocoed date (Le 29 Feboomy 20240 lor the pupose of simplitying the management
strucle, busimnass procesies, betier adnumsizanoz, redugton in costs tesylbng from synerwss of operstora offors and starcard sabon. The sed schene i subyect Lo approval am the conczened

resutatony authonlie:. Accordmgly, se slteu of this merger schense his begn mede o these Franos. statements,

34 {hher stutatory infarmarion

s Ltenn uuliatend on pend:ng azamst te Compasy [or hokbisy any Banam property arcer e Menami Transections

{a) The Company does not heve aty Benami property, where ary procesd:
(Pranbenony Aot 1Y and rules mads thereunder.

[iil 'z Company izas not besn decaved 45 w..ful defaulier by oy bank o lnanzal Ingtiahon ar atbeee lendwer

{u1) The Comnpany has no; entered info gny sransachions with companies souce of T unds: section 248 of the Cempanies Act, 2013 or szcoon 360 of Compames Aer, B35

tred The Compay does rol ha v sramsachen which is not -eorded in the boass of accounts that has beer surrandersd or discinsed as income donng the year inthe Lax assessmeant: under ths
Ineims Tax Aoy, D261 (sac as seacch e survey eor any other relevant provisiens of the Incoms Tay Act, 1961

(vt There are no crarges or sabsfacton vel le be s lered vtk ROC beyvend the statciory genod

w11 There are oo funds which have been advanced or loaned or mvesizd {arher from borrowsd funds or shars prameam - asy other sources or kind o fundst oy the Cowpany wean o any other
ding, whother eoeo-ded 11 whihy or otherwise. that the btermediary s2alf deeveily or eubrectly lece or nvest n

¥ by or on oehalf of the Compary or provide any guaranes, ssanty ar the Dke v o on Lehold ol e Llimate

snbites (- [mezmediznes ™). wath the unders:
simate Bereficiar

Lerson: 4 enties, including e
uthies pessons o satles denilied i any marner whatsoever |
Benel.ciaes

e e cerstanding. wnether recorged mownbng or

(vt Thers ase o funds which have been received by the Comtpany from any reyn cnhnes [ Funding Parues™,
Mherwize. thal the Company weas drreetly or mditectly, l2ad areeest i atbuer persons ar etitizs sienhiied inoany nanoer whatseever U Llimate Beneficianes b o or behail of the Fuaduw Parry

or proside amy guarenlze. securny or e hike from eran beball 205 me Ulowae Beneficzanes

fuiy The Compan s nol a €L a3 per the provisons of the Corg Investmenl Campani=s § Reseres Sank) Duechions, 2016,
< rargeal yuar

(ix} The Company has aot raded o wvested w Covoke cunaney ot ¥irlual Corraney dunag
The nozzs fror Nete | o Note 34 foom anoimegral pan af these financial statements

As per aur separt of ever date ztachad

For and on behald of Board of Dooegers ol
Duet India Hotels (Bangalore Private L

glm»»rﬂ-c' Nt

Far Lodha & Co. LLP
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